



**STAFF SENATE**  
Sam Houston State University

## **Staff Senate By-Laws**

# Contents

<b>Article I. NAME of Organization</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<b>Article II. MISSION</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<b>Article III. MEMBERSHIP</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<i>Section 1. Eligibility</i> .....	4
<i>Section 2. Staff Senate Representation/Division Population Reviewed</i> .....	4
<i>Section 3. Member and Officer Terms of Office</i> .....	5
<i>Section 4. Members Duties and Time Allowances</i> .....	6
<i>Section 5. Provision of Removal from Office</i> .....	6
<b>Article IV. EXECUTIVE BOARD</b> .....	<b>7</b>
<i>Section 1. Members</i> .....	7
<i>Section 2. Duties</i> .....	7
<i>Section 3. Terms of Office</i> .....	8
<i>Section 4. Executive Board Vacancies</i> .....	8
<b>Article V. ELECTIONS</b> .....	<b>9</b>
<i>Section 1. Election Term</i> .....	9
<i>Section 2. Ad- Hoc Nominations and Election Committee</i> .....	9
<i>Section 3. Nomination Procedures for General Body Representatives</i> .....	9
<i>Section 4. Procedures for Elections for General Body Representatives</i> .....	9
<i>Section 5. Nominations &amp; Election of Officer Positions</i> .....	10
<b>Article VI. MEETINGS</b> .....	<b>11</b>
<i>Section 1. Schedule of Meetings</i> .....	11
<i>Section 2. Special Meetings</i> .....	11
<i>Section 3. Forum</i> .....	11
<i>Section 4. Quorum</i> .....	11
<i>Section 4. Voting</i> .....	12
<i>Section 5. Floor Privileges</i> .....	12
<i>Section 6. Agenda</i> .....	12
<i>Section 7. Minutes</i> .....	13
<i>Section 8. Order of Business</i> .....	13
<i>Section 9. Parliamentary Authority</i> .....	13
<b>Article VII. BUDGET AND FINANCE</b> .....	<b>13</b>
<i>Section 1. Source of Funds</i> .....	13

<i>Section 2. Account Management.....</i>	<i>13</i>
<i>Section 3. Account Review.....</i>	<i>13</i>
<b>Article VIII. COMMITTEES.....</b>	<b>14</b>
<i>Section 1. Membership .....</i>	<i>14</i>
<i>Section 2. Meetings.....</i>	<i>14</i>
<i>Section 3. Duties.....</i>	<i>14</i>
<i>Section 4. Standing Committees .....</i>	<i>14</i>
<i>Section 5. Ad Hoc Committees .....</i>	<i>15</i>
<i>Section 6. Recurring Ad Hoc Committee.....</i>	<i>15</i>
<b>Article IX. AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS .....</b>	<b>16</b>
<i>Section 1. Proposals to Amend.....</i>	<i>16</i>
<i>Section 2. Approval .....</i>	<b>Error! Bookmark not defined.</b>
<i>Section 3. Publication .....</i>	<b>Error! Bookmark not defined.</b>

## **Article I. NAME of Organization**

The name of this organization shall be the Sam Houston State University Staff Senate (“Staff Senate”).

## **Article II. MISSION**

As a collective voice, Staff Senate advocates for and represents the interests of Staff to the administration of Sam Houston State University., Staff Senate also provides staff with opportunities to succeed through networking and professional development.

To accomplish these objectives, Staff Senate will:

- Function as a liaison between Staff and the administration of SHSU regarding interests and concerns of Staff.
- Provide opportunities for Staff to reflect SHSU’s motto of service.
- Provide Staff with learning and professional development opportunities.
- Recognize and promote contributions and accomplishments of Staff at SHSU.
- Provide networking opportunities to enhance cooperation and camaraderie amongst Staff.

## **Article III. MEMBERSHIP**

### ***Section 1. Eligibility***

All full-time, benefits-eligible university employees, excluding faculty members, are eligible for membership and representation by the Staff Senate. To qualify, an individual must have completed at least one year of employment before seeking office.

### ***Section 2. Staff Senate Representation/Division Population Reviewed***

1. Sam Houston State University Staff are eligible to nominate and elect other Staff as representative members of Staff Senate.
2. The membership of Staff Senate is based upon University Divisions, with each Division having representation on Staff Senate. Each Division will have a proportionate number of representatives based upon Human Resource’s identification of the number of full-time, benefits-eligible staff working in the Division for the month preceding the nomination call. In March of each year, the ad-hoc Nominations and Elections Committee will request from the Human Resources Office the identification of the current population of all full-time, benefits-eligible staff (excluding the University President & Divisional Vice Presidents) who will have been employed at least a full year prior to the upcoming term start date. Below are the Division proportions:

Total Number of People in Division	# of Representatives
1 to 99	2
100-199	4
200-299	8
300 or greater	16

This data will guide the Nominations and Election Committee in determining the number of members to be elected for each division/unit.

***Section 3. Member and Officer Terms of Office***

1. Representatives shall serve a two (2) year term to begin the first day of July and to end on the last day of June.
2. No member may serve more than two (2) consecutive terms but may be re-elected after a one (1) year interval.
  - The only exception to this by-law is for President-Elect if their fifth year is as Past-President. See Article 4 Section 3 for additional details.
3. If a representative changes their division during their term of office, the following procedures will be implemented based on the circumstances:
  - Vacancy in New Division:
    - If there is a vacancy in representation for the new division, the representative will assume the role immediately and be up for reelection for the new division in the upcoming elections.
  - No Vacancy in New Division:
    - If there is no vacancy for their new division, the representative will continue to serve on Staff Senate without a specific division assignment until the next elections.
    - Alternatively, if there is less than a full semester remaining before the next elections, the representative will continue to represent their original division and will be eligible for reelection for the new division in the upcoming elections.
  - Reelection Process:
    - Any representative changing division during their term will automatically be included in the reelection process for their new division.
    - It is important to note that this provision does not extend the representative's term, but rather may lead to an early conclusion if not reappointed by their new division.

#### ***Section 4. Members Duties and Time Allowances***

Members are expected to fulfill the following duties and commitments as representatives of Staff Senate:

1. Meeting Attendance: Attend all scheduled meetings of Staff Senate, including general body and committee meetings. In the event of inability to attend, notify the committee chair in advance.
2. Committee Involvement: Serve actively on committees, either as chairs or members. Be open to the possibility of running for officer positions within the Staff Senate.
3. Event Participation: Attend all events hosted by Staff Senate to foster engagement and community.
4. Divisional Connection: Be accessible to staff within their respective Divisions. Actively listen to concerns, receive information and suggestions, and effectively communicate these to Staff Senate. Keep staff in their divisions informed about the work of Staff Senate and relevant communications from the administration.
5. Time Commitment: Allocate a reasonable number of working hours to fulfill Staff Senate duties as part of regular job responsibilities. Note: Excessive time requirements beyond regular duties should be discussed and approved by the member's supervisor.
6. Additional duties/exceptions may arise. Members must be given adequate notice of any changes.

#### ***Section 5. Provision of Removal from Office***

1. If any member, including Executive Board members, violate the above expectations they are subject to removal.
2. Any member that has excessive violations shall be notified via email/letter from the President reminding them of the expectations.
3. Additional violations after the notification letter is sent will constitute a review process by the Executive Board of that members eligibility to remain on Staff Senate. This includes an opportunity for the member in question to share their perspective. At that point, the Executive Board may decide to remove the member from office.
4. A Representative's term of office may be terminated, and a new Representative elected at any time by a majority vote of all eligible Division Representatives. A vote to terminate a current Representative and elect a new Representative may be initiated by a written petition signed by at least fifty percent (50%) of the eligible staff in the represented Division.

5. Any Representative who is discharged from their position upon the accrual of three (3) absences may appeal the removal in person at the next called executive board meeting by giving a minimum five (5) business day written notice of intent to the President of Staff Senate.

6. Any Representative discharged from their position will not be eligible for reelection to Staff Senate for one (1) election cycle.

## **Article IV. EXECUTIVE BOARD**

### ***Section 1. Members***

The Executive Board of the Staff Senate is comprised of both Officers and Chairs.

Officers of Staff Senate shall be elected by the members of the Staff Senate. Officers will make up the Executive Board of the Staff Senate. The Officers of the Staff Senate shall be the President, President-Elect, Past President, Secretary, and Treasurer.

Vacancies for Chairs of Staff Senate committees—Staff Affairs, Staff Development, Special Events, and News & Networking—shall be collectively decided by the Executive Board during their annual committee selection meeting.

### ***Section 2. Duties***

Duties of the Officers:

1. The President shall: (1) be present at all meetings of Staff Senate; (2) conduct Staff Senate meetings; (3) ensure that projects undertaken by Staff Senate are developed, organized, and implemented in an orderly and timely manner; (4) involve the President-Elect in all decisions; (5) fulfill other responsibilities and duties as required; and (6) decide any tie vote.
2. The President-Elect shall: (1) assume the position and duties of President at the end of the President's term or at such time as the President's seat is vacated; (2) become thoroughly knowledgeable of all President decisions to provide a smooth transition and continuity of duties; (3) conduct Staff Senate meetings in the absence of the President; (4) be authorized to sign all documents for Staff Senate in the absences of the President; (5) assume other duties as directed by Staff Senate; (6) become Acting-President during extended, but not permanent, absence(s) (i.e. vacation, illness, etc.) of the President; and (7) assist the President with duties as needed.
3. The Secretary shall: (1) give notice of all meetings; (2) prepare and maintain a file of official minutes for all meetings of Staff Senate, with the minutes electronically published after each meeting; (3) post the minutes of the previous meeting on Staff Senate website and send a copy of the approved minutes to the University President; (4) help with all correspondence as directed by Staff Senate within the timeframe specified;

(5) keep and archive the history of the formation and all members and actions of Staff Senate; and (6) conduct Staff Senate meetings during the absence of both the President and President-Elect.

4. The Treasurer shall: (1) be responsible for all financial aspects of the Staff Senate functions, including making any deposits to Staff Senate accounts, and purchases according to University policy and regulations; (2) maintain an accurate account of all receipts and expenditures; (3) verify accounting summary/detail reports from University Administrative Accounting records for Staff Senate accounts; (4) reconcile such account records at least monthly; (5) report on these activities at each Staff Senate meeting; and (6) submit an annual written report to the Executive Board.
5. The Past President shall: (1) assume this advisory position at the end of their term as President; (2) provide knowledge of all President decisions for continuity of duties; (3) assume President duties in the absence of the President, President-Elect, and Secretary; (4) assume other duties as directed by Staff Senate; (5) assist the President and President-Elect with duties as needed. ; (6) serve as the Nominations and Elections Committee Chair for the year following their President term.
6. The Chairs shall: actively contribute to one of the committees, enhancing the overall effectiveness of the Staff Senate. Please see Article VIII for committee information.

### ***Section 3. Terms of Office***

1. The term of office for all officers are one (1) year.
2. The President- Elect must serve two (2) consecutive terms, with their first year as a member, their second as the President-Elect, third as President, and fourth as Past President. Nominees for President-Elect must have served at least one year on Staff Senate. Upon being elected to the Executive Board as President-Elect, the person elected will have their term extended by one year to meet Executive Board obligations.
3. No member may hold more than one office at a time, and no member shall be eligible to serve more than two (2) consecutive terms in the same office.
4. Any member may be re-elected to an office, which they held for two (2) consecutive terms, after being absent from that position for one full term.
5. The call for nominations for the offices of President-Elect, Secretary, and Treasurer for the upcoming year will be taken in May, with elections occurring at the June meeting. Newly elected officers will transition in June and assume their duties July 1<sup>st</sup>.

### ***Section 4. Executive Board Vacancies***

1. Any Executive Board vacancy shall be filled only from the remaining Staff Senate members.
2. The process will be by nomination and vote of the remaining members of Staff Senate.
3. A Representative of Staff Senate elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remaining term of the vacancy.
4. If the position of Past President becomes vacant, it will remain vacant until the next



election term when the current President will assume that position.

## **Article V. ELECTIONS**

### ***Section 1. Election Term***

1. Each Staff Senate Representative will be elected by open ballot to serve a two-year term.
2. Once elected, each Staff Senate will represent all eligible Staff.
3. Election of Staff Senate Representatives shall be held every May to become effective July 1st of the current fiscal year.

### ***Section 2. Ad-Hoc Nominations and Election Committee***

The Past President shall serve as the Chair of the Nominations and Election Committee. The Chair of the Nominations and Election Committee shall not be a candidate for re-election to Staff Senate during the year of service as Nominations and Election Committee Chair. The Nominations and Election Committee may make necessary modifications to operating procedures for the nomination and election of representatives, subject to majority vote approval of the Staff Senate, consistent with these guidelines: nominations will be held for a two-week period, voting will be held for a two-week period, and the results of the election will be announced early in the month of May.

Schedule for Nominations and Elections:

Nominations Period – 1<sup>st</sup> week of March through 3<sup>rd</sup> week of March (this 3-week period allows time to solicit nominations from any divisions that did not reach the minimum and to create ballots)

Election Period – 4<sup>th</sup> week of March through 1<sup>st</sup> week of April

Counting of Ballots and Announcement of New Members – 2<sup>nd</sup> week of April through 3<sup>rd</sup> week of April

### ***Section 3. Nomination Procedures for General Body Representatives***

Nominations of candidates for Staff Senate may be made by any of SHSU Staff, regardless of Division. The nominee is notified by the Nominations and Election Committee and must agree to have their name on the election ballot. The Nominations and Election Committee is responsible for verifying eligibility of nominees and for assuring that a minimum number of candidates are nominated from each Division. The minimum number will be as stated in Article III. If the minimum number of candidates is not reached through the nomination process, the Nominations and Election Committee will solicit the respective Division(s) to meet the minimum number.

### ***Section 4. Procedures for Elections for General Body Representatives***

1. Nominations: Nomination forms will be solicited by Division and the nominees will be verified by the ad-hoc Nominations and Election Committee. The ad-hoc Nominations

and Election Committee will publish a schedule and nomination forms available to all eligible Staff. The ad- hoc Nominations and Election Committee shall verify eligibility, willingness of nominees to run and to serve, in writing, and shall inform the nominees of meeting times, attendance requirements, the time commitment required, and that this is a voluntary position with no additional compensation.

2. Ballots: The ad-hoc Nominations and Election Committee shall prepare and distribute ballots in the same manner as the nomination forms. There is no maximum number of nominees within a division. The ad- hoc Nominations and Election Committee will establish a schedule and ballots that are available to all eligible Staff. Ballots may be physical or electronic. Regardless of the method of voting, each staff member will be afforded only one ballot / one vote.
3. Counting Ballots: The ad-hoc Nominations and Election Committee shall count the ballots and present preliminary results to Staff Senate for certification. At least three Committee members shall count the ballots. In the event of a tie vote, the ad- hoc Nominations and Election Committee will prepare a run-off ballot, repeat the election process, and present the results to the Staff Senate.
4. Announcement of Election Results: The Chair of the Nominations and Election Committee will notify new Representatives and invite them to attend the next meeting of Staff Senate as guests. Election results will be given to the Secretary for publication.
5. Election Records: In the event paper ballots are used, all ballots will be sealed and held for three (3) months after the announcement of results. If no allegations of election disputes or error are brought forward, the ballots will be destroyed. Lists of the vote tabulation shall be secured and maintained by Staff Senate Secretary for three years from the date of the election.
6. Election Disputes: The President of the Staff Senate shall accept and investigate all election disputes and determine what, if any, irregularities occurred during the election process. The President shall take whatever remedial action necessary to settle the dispute.

### ***Section 5. Nominations & Election of Officer Positions***

1. Officers shall be elected every May to become effective July 1<sup>st</sup>.
2. Nominations for officer positions will be made at the May general body meeting.
3. All nominees must acknowledge their willingness to serve as an Executive Board Member.
4. The President-Elect nominee(s) must be at the beginning of their two-year Staff Senate term(s). Their term will be extended by one (1) year in accordance with these Bylaws.
5. If voting is necessary, candidates receiving the highest number of votes from Staff Senate Representatives, along with the approval of the sitting Executive Board Members, will be considered appointed to that position for the following term.
  1. If voting is not necessary, the sitting Executive Board Members will provide final approval on candidates running for un-opposed positions.
6. Ties will be decided by run-off elections. In the event of more than two (2) runoff elections, the Past President will cast the deciding vote.

## **Article VI. MEETINGS**

### ***Section 1. Schedule of Meetings***

Meetings of the Staff Senate shall be open to all Sam Houston State University Staff. Certain issues may be discussed by the Staff Senate in closed session at the discretion of the Staff Senate President.

1. Executive Board, Committee, and General Body meetings of Staff Senate shall be held August through June; and, in no case shall there be fewer than four (4) meetings per year.
2. Executive Board and General Body meeting times shall be established by the Executive Board at their last meeting before the retreat. All meetings, whether scheduled or special, should be held during normal working hours Monday through Friday.
3. General Body meetings shall be in- person unless otherwise agreed upon by the Executive Board in advance (this option should be limited).
  - The only exception to this is if a representative works at the College of Osteopathic Medicine or The Woodlands Center. In this case a virtual meeting option (like TEAMS) will be made available to those specific representatives.
4. If the President and Executive Board have no new agenda items or proposals, they reserve the right not to hold a meeting but must give ample notification to Staff Senate Representatives.

### ***Section 2. Special Meetings***

Special meetings may be called by the University President, the Staff Senate President, or at the request of a quorum of the Staff Senate Representatives. Ten (10) working days' notice must be given of any special meeting. The University President may call an emergency meeting at any time without prior notice. Notice for special meeting can go out by whichever method is most appropriate. Only business specified in the call of the special meeting may be conducted at such a meeting.

### ***Section 3. Forum***

One Executive Board meeting per year shall be designated as an open forum of the Staff of the University. The President and/or other executive officials shall be invited to be the guest speaker(s). The purpose of the forum shall be to share common interests and concerns, to pose questions, and to provide the University President an opportunity to share information with Staff.

### ***Section 4. Quorum***

A quorum shall constitute a simple majority (50 percent + 1) of the Staff Senate Representatives. Neither the Staff Senate, the Executive Board, nor a committee shall conduct business without a quorum.

In the absence of a quorum:

1. The President may only make announcements of an informative nature.
2. Any business transacted is invalid.
3. The Executive Board may convene and vote on time-sensitive issues that require immediate action and report the outcome to the Staff Senate at the next scheduled Staff Senate meeting; for example, an emergency meeting called by the University President.

#### ***Section 4. Voting***

Only elected Staff Senate Representatives may vote.

1. A quorum is required for a Staff Senate vote to be taken.
2. Voting on motions and issues brought before the Staff Senate shall be by voice or show of hands, unless a roll call vote or vote by secret ballot is requested by a Representative. Roll call votes are recorded in the minutes.
3. Each Representative is entitled to one vote.
4. No proxy votes are permitted.
5. A simple majority vote of the Representatives present, and voting shall decide a question, and the President shall break any tie vote.

#### ***Section 5. Floor Privileges***

Only Representatives shall introduce proposals, measures, and resolutions on the Staff Senate floor. Persons who are not Representatives may be granted the right to speak, but not to vote, on matters before the Staff Senate. When a request is made for this privilege, the President shall ask the Staff Senate for objections and, hearing none, shall grant permission to speak. If objections are raised, the privilege shall be extended only by majority vote of the Staff Senate.

#### ***Section 6. Agenda***

The Executive Board shall set an agenda for each Staff Senate meeting that includes the time and place of the meetings, the order of business, and copies of any substantive proposals. Other items may be added to the agenda at the meeting if approved by a majority of the Representatives present. The agenda should be distributed and posted in a form widely available to all Staff.

The Executive Board shall:

1. Receive proposals for Staff Senate action or other presentations to the Staff Senate from any Staff Senate committee, from any Representative, from individual Staff, or from the University President.
2. Refer all substantive proposals for Staff Senate action to the appropriate committee for review prior to placing them on the agenda unless the Executive Board is prepared to address an issue and present it to the Staff Senate.
3. Set the agenda so that the business can be addressed in a meeting of reasonable duration.

4. If necessary, advise the Staff Senate of the need for a special meeting; and,
5. Respond to the submitted proposals within a reasonable amount of time, considering the circumstances of the proposal.

### ***Section 7. Minutes***

Minutes shall be made available to the Staff Senate within ten (10) working days after each regular meeting. After approval, minutes shall be modified as amended and maintained for permanent record. The minutes of the meetings shall be posted on the Staff Senate website and open for inspection.

### ***Section 8. Order of Business***

The order of business shall be: (1) call to order and establish a quorum; (2) approval of minutes. (3) committee reports; (4) unfinished business; (5) new business; (6) miscellaneous (comments, announcements, tributes, etc.); and (7) adjournment.

### ***Section 9. Parliamentary Authority***

The most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall govern the SHSU Staff Senate and its committees in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are consistent with these guidelines or with any special rules of order the Staff Senate may adopt.

## **Article VII. BUDGET AND FINANCE**

### ***Section 1. Source of Funds***

The University shall establish and fund an operating budget sufficient to meet the reasonable operating expenses of the Staff Senate.

### ***Section 2. Account Management***

The Staff Senate Treasurer shall be established as the department head with alternate signature authority assigned to the Staff Senate President.

### ***Section 3. Account Review***

At all times, details of expenditures made on behalf of the Staff Senate shall be available for review and audit. The Staff Senate Treasurer shall maintain transaction records for the current fiscal year and at least three (3) years prior.

## **Article VIII. COMMITTEES**

### ***Section 1. Membership***

With the exception of the Staff Senate Officers, all Staff Senate Representatives shall serve on at least one standing committee or on an established subcommittee within a standing committee. Each committee shall be comprised of at least five (5) Representatives.

1. Staff Senate Representatives shall serve on a minimum of one (1) standing committees and/or sub-committee. Representatives may also volunteer to serve on additional standing committees if they so choose.
2. The Executive Board shall determine the standing committee representation and Chairperson at their annual committee selection meeting.

The term of a committee Representative shall be for one (1) year.

### ***Section 2. Meetings***

1. Each committee will meet at least twice academic year. Additional meetings may be called by the Chairperson, or upon request of at least two (2) members of the committee.
2. Meetings shall be conducted following the guidelines set forth in Article VI of the Bylaws.

### ***Section 3. Duties***

The standing committees of the Staff Senate shall accept business items assigned to them by the Executive Board, address those item(s) in a responsible and timely manner, and establish subcommittees to study specific issues and make recommendations, as necessary. Standing committees may request that the Executive Board appoint an ad hoc committee for special business under their jurisdiction. Under no circumstances shall information be disseminated from a committee which has not been authorized by a majority of the Executive Board or adopted by majority vote of the Staff Senate.

The committee chair will make a report to the Staff Senate at each meeting and prepare a complete annual report concerning the work of the committee to be presented at the summer retreat.

### ***Section 4. Standing Committees***

The standing committees of the Staff Senate are the News and Networking Committee, Special Events Committee, Staff Development Committee, and Staff Affairs Committee.

1. News and Networking Committee: This committee will develop and implement communication strategies for the Staff Senate, including but not limited to maintaining the Staff Senate's web page and social media accounts. The committee determines the best methods for communication, both internally for the Senate and externally with the University. Once a month, the committee recognizes a staff member who exemplifies

extraordinary performance in their duties, as the Spotlight on Staff for the month. In addition, the committee may assist other committees and officers with visibility and public relations, including but not limited to flyers, announcements, newsletters, mass emails, and other promotional activities.

2. **Special Events Committee:** This committee shall promote the Staff Senate to the University and surrounding communities to foster staff pride, work with the appropriate University offices and news services to publicize the Staff Senate and its activities, and plan and coordinate activities where staff can meet their Representatives and learn about Staff Senate activities and service opportunities.
3. **Staff Development Committee:** This committee shall create and host an annual program to provide staff with learning and development opportunities. In addition, the committee will collaborate with Human Resources to provide training programs that are beneficial to Staff.
4. **Staff Affairs Committee:** This committee shall address concerns brought forth by the University President, Staff Senate Executive Board, and the Staff Senate including, but not limited to administrative policy and procedures, staff evaluations, parking and transportation, and campus safety. This committee shall identify, analyze, and formulate recommendations for issues affecting SHSU's staff members. The recommendations shall be reported to the Staff Senate and the Executive Board for adoption by the Staff Senate. This committee shall present recommendations to the leadership of SHSU and advocate on behalf of Staff.

### ***Section 5. Ad Hoc Committees***

Ad hoc committees of the Staff Senate shall be appointed by the Executive Board as needs arise, or as requested by a standing committee for special business under their jurisdiction to review and address specific issues. Each ad hoc committee will have at least three (3) Representatives as members. Ad hoc committees will elect a chair who will be charged with presenting the issue and responding with the committee's findings to the Staff Senate.

1. The life of the committee will be determined by the matter under consideration and the committee shall be disbanded when the purpose has been served.
2. Ad hoc committees shall accept the issues assigned to the committee by the Executive Board; address the item(s) in a responsible and timely manner; make progress reports on the committee activities to the Staff Senate and prepare and present a final report or recommendations.

### ***Section 6. Recurring Ad Hoc Committee***

Recurring ad hoc committees are appointed by the Executive Board. The current recurring ad hoc committee(s) of the Staff Senate are as follows:

**Nominations and Elections Committee:** The committee shall oversee all nominations and elections procedures as set forth in the Bylaws and coordinate and validate all elections to the Staff Senate. No Staff Senate Representative who is a candidate for a Staff Senate position may be a member of the Nominations and Elections Committee. It is preferred that there is one (1) member from each committee serving on this ad-hoc committee. This committee is chaired by the Past-President.

Constitution and Bylaws Committee: The committee is made up of the Executive Board. This committee shall review the Constitution and Bylaws as needed to assess the continued appropriateness to current Staff Senate needs. The committee may also consider proposed changes in the Constitution or Bylaws introduced by Staff Senate Representatives. The committee will review, propose, and recommend any changes or revisions to the Constitution or Bylaws. Any changes to the Constitution or By-Laws must be voted on and approved by a majority of the Staff Senate Members.

## **Article IX. AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS**

### ***Section 1. Proposals to Amend***

If it is determined by the Constitution and Bylaws Committee that amendments should be made:

- The committee will provide updated suggestions via writing.
- The Secretary shall distribute the proposed amendment to all members at least 10 calendar days prior to voting.

### ***Section 2: Voting***

- Proposed amendments must receive a two-thirds vote of the Staff Senate
- Voting may take place in-person, with a show of hands, or via secret ballot. This is up to the discretion of the President.

### ***Section 3: Ratification Process***

- Approved amendments shall be published on the organization's website within 10 calendar days of the vote.
- The amendments shall be considered ratified at the close of the meeting in which they are approved.
- The Secretary shall maintain a record of all amendments, including the date of approval, the nature of the amendment, and the vote tally.

### ***Section 4. Special Circumstances***

The President of the University holds the right to request immediate changes to the by-laws following the determination that portion(s) of the by-laws are at variance with Texas state law or the adopted rules and policies of The Texas State University System. In this circumstance, no vote is required by the Senate body.



## **AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS:**

October 2021 – Change Chair to President, Change Chair – Elect to President – Elect, change Past Chair to Past President, and to remove council from Staff Council and change to Staff Senate.

April 2018- Article III. MEMBERSHIP, Article IV. OFFICERS, Article V. ELECTIONS, Article VI. MEETINGS

July 2016 – Article II. MISSION, Article III. MEMBERSHIP, Article IV. OFFICERS, Article V. ELECTIONS, Article VI. MEETINGS, Article VIII. COMMITTEES

July 2011 - Article III. MEMBERSHIP, Article IV. OFFICERS, Article V. ELECTIONS, Article VI. MEETINGS, Article VIII. COMMITTEES, Article IX. AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS (corrections noted within Bylaws December 2014 – Amendments approved July 2012)

May 2009 - Article III. MEMBERSHIP, Article IV. OFFICERS, Article V. ELECTIONS, Article VI. MEETINGS, Article VIII. COMMITTEES, Article IX. AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS

March 2008 - Change EEO Classification to Division Population Throughout

May 2007 - Article V. ELECTIONS

